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PLAINTIFF'S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

Relator Karen Chillcott, on behalf of herself and the United States of America, sues

Defendants KBR, Inc., Kellogg Brown & Root Services, Inc., and Kellogg Brown & Root

L.L.C. (collectively "Defendants") and alleges as follows:

I. INTRODUCTION

l. This is a qui tam action under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et

seq. ("FCA"), as amended by the Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009

("FERA"), Pub.L. 111-21, to recover treble damages, penalties, and other remedies from

Defendants arising from the submission of false claims and false statements or records to

the United States Government under the Logistics Civil Augmentation Program III,

Contract No. DAAA09-02-D-0007 ("LOGCAP III") and Logistics Civil Augmentation

Program IV, Contract No. W52PlJ-07-D-0009 ("LOGCAP IV") (collectively, the

"Contracts").

2. Defendants defrauded, and conspired to defraud, the United States of

unallowable mobilization and demobilization costs for LOGCAP III and IV personnel,

including Defendants' direct employees and subcontractor employees. These costs are

unallowable under the "Tour of Duty" clause in the "Special Contract Requirements" of

Attachment 002, Clause H-29 (LOGCAP III) and Clause H-26 (LOGCAP IV). The

clauses authorize Defendants to mobilize personnel into the LOGCAP theaters of

operations and later demobilize or remove them from the theaters. However, Defendants

must pay for the mobilization and demobilization costs for personnel who leave the theater

in less than 179 days. The "Tour of Duty" clause states that these costs are unallowable if
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the contractor personnel fail to remam in theater for a minimum of 179 days.

Notwithstanding this clear contractual requirement, Defendants knowingly made false

claims for payment for the mobilization and demobilization costs for tens of thousands of

personnel who failed to remain in theater for at least 179 days.

3. LOGCAP III and IV are programs of the United States Army to hire civilian

contractors to provide in theater logistical support to military personnel in wartime and

other operations. Defendants support military personnel deployment and operations by

providing civilian personnel to perform services such as laundry; clothing repair; food;

mortuary affairs; sanitation; billeting; facilities management; morale welfare and

recreation; information management; postal operations; administration, including

personnel support and banking support; transportation, including movement control; cargo

transfer, motor pool, port/ocean terminal operations, and line/local haul; aviation and

medical services; engineering and construction services; site preparation; fixed facilities

utilities; communication networks; and power generation and distribution as authorized by

individual task orders issued by the Army. More than 100,000 civilian personnel

employed by Defendants' and their subcontractors have worked in theater to implement

more than 100 different task orders.

4. The "Tour of Duty" clause assures the maximum continuity of civilian

contractor personnel providing support services to the United States military and Coalition

forces in the LOGCAP theaters of operations. The continuity of contractor personnel is of

critical importance to supporting military operations. Transitory contractor personnel is a

factor in failing to achieve maximum logistical support of military operations.

3
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5. In recognition of the substantial costs to mobilize and demobilize civilian

personnel into and out of theater under LOGCAP's indefinite quantity cost-reimbursement

structure, the "Tour of Duty" clause requires Defendants to bear the costs for personnel

who demobilize early by failing to remain in theater for a minimum of 179 days. Doing so

incentivizes Defendants to provide stable, adequately trained, and properly screened

personnel to fill in theater positions supporting military operations.

6. The United States and Defendants engage in detailed advanced operational

and acquisition planning, programming, cost estimating, and budgeting to define the

services supporting task orders issued by the military. The task orders require Defendants

to deliver services to achieve a specific task with a pre-determined civilian force

component assigned to the task, for example, base camp construction or providing life

support services to United States forces in theater. LOGCAP personnel composed of

Defendants' direct employees and the employees of their subcontractors perform the task

order services in the theater ofoperations.

7. Defendants, and their senior management, lmew that the costs of early

demobilized personnel were unallowable. Nevertheless, they billed the United States.

Apart from the terms of the Contracts, Defendants' knowledge of the requirements of the

"Tour of Duty" clause is reflected in their internal documents, as well as their course of

dealing with their subcontractors. Defendants have hired numerous companies to perform

services as LOGCAP subcontractors, including, but not limited to, Integrated Technologies

Group, Inc., Wackenhut LLC, Lear Siegler Services, Inc.lEG&G Technical Services, Inc.,

and Olgoonik. Implemented in late 2003 and thereafter, Defendants' agreements with

4
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these subcontractors flow down the requirements of the prime LOGCAP contract. As it

relates to the "Tour of Duty" clause, the agreements require the subcontractors to

reimburse Defendants for the costs of personnel who fail to complete 180 days of service

or depart their assignment location less than 180 days after deployment. In addition, the

agreements require the subcontractors to replace early demobilized personnel at their own

expense. Imposed by Defendants on their own LOGCAP subcontractors, these contractual

provisions implement the "Tour of Duty" clause and reflect Defendants' knowledge that

the mobilization and demobilization costs of personnel leaving the theater in less than 179

days are unallowable.

8. Defendants enforced these contractual provisions against its subcontractors.

As documented in subcontractor invoices dating back to 2005, Defendants received

millions of dollars from subcontractors as refunds for LOGCAP personnel who failed to

remain in theater for 180 days. These "early demobilization" payments were accepted by

Defendants without a clear accounting to the United States and coordination with the

contracting officer as required under the "Tour of Duty" clause.

9. Although unrelenting to secure repayment of subcontractors' unallowable

costs for early demobilized personnel and requiring subcontractors to replace such

personnel at their expense, Defendants continued to make false claims for payment for

these costs for their direct employees, as well as the employees of subcontractors. For

example, Defendants knowingly submitted false claims for the unallowable mobilization

and demobilization costs in violation of the "Tour of Duty" clause under LOGCAP III for

at least 11,266 of its direct employees who were demobilized in less than 179 days.

5
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Exhibit 1 identifies each of these direct employees by SAP number, contract date, job title,

country of assignment, main site, work location, reason for early demobilization, date of

demobilization, and number of days in theater (de-identified for first and last name of the

employee). More than 1,600 of these former employees were in theater for thirty days or

less. Some were there for only a few days before they demobilized. Nevertheless,

Defendants billed the United States thousands of dollars per person for the full

mobilization and demobilization costs. In addition, Defendants knowingly submitted false

claims for the unallowable mobilization and demobilization costs for subcontractor

personnel who were demobilized in less than 179 days while, at the same time, enforcing

the "Tour of Duty" clause against the same subcontractors.

10. Defendants filed Standard Form 1034s falsely certifying that "all payments

requested are for appropriate purposes and in accordance with the agreements set forth in

the contract." In many instances, personnel of Defendants or a subcontractor were

demobilized after the United States had provisionally paid the initial mobilization costs.

Where those personnel were demobilized in less than 179 days, Defendants did not refund

to the United States the costs. Moreover, Defendants invoiced the United States for the

unallowable mobilization costs of personnel hired to replace the individuals who

demobilized early, thereby leaving a vacancy in the applicable task order position.

11. The United States and its agents provisionally approved the claims for

payment in the invoices subject to the terms and conditions of LOGCAP III and IV. With

regard to the "Tour of Duty" clause and applicable sections of the Federal Acquisition

Regulations ("FAR"), provisional approval means that Defendants were obligated to

6
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implement reliable accounting practices to track the length of time personnel remained in

theater, disclose personnel leaving in less than the minimum 179 days, and refund the full

amount of unallowable mobilization and demobilization payments provisionally approved

by the United States. Defendants did none of this.

12. Defendants have violated the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l), (2),

(3) & (7) in the following illustrative ways:

a. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses for personnel that demobilized prior to the
time the invoices were filed with the United States (for example,
the 1,600 former employees identified in Exhibit I who
demobilized within thirty days of hiring);

b. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization and demobilization expenses for personnel, including
subcontractor employees, failing to remain in theater for at least
179 days;

c. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses ofreplacement personnel filling the position
vacancy of early demobilized personnel;

d. failing to disclose and immediately repay or refund the expressly
unallowable expenses and/or failing to refund to the United States
the early demobilization payments of subcontractors; and

e. falsely certifying that all payments requested are for appropriate
purposes and in accordance with LOGCAP III and IV
requirements.

13. Each of these actions was "knowing" within the meaning of "knowing" in

31 U.S.C. § 3729(b).

14. The United States has been and continues to be substantially damaged by

Defendants' fraud. The United States has paid to Defendants substantially more than

$200,000,000 in actual (single) damages for mobilization and demobilization costs that

7
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were unallowable. This conservative damage calculation is based on the 11,266 direct

employees of Defendants documented under LOGCAP III and Defendants' mobilization

cost data and estimated demobilization costs. The actual damage to the United States is

substantially in excess of this amount when accounting for subcontractor personnel and

LOGCAP IV personnel.

15. Defendants' false statements and false claims were material to the

Government's decision to provisionally approve the invoices for payment. Defendants

knew the claims were false.

16. The original Complaint and this Amended Complaint have been filed in

camera and under seal pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(2). The original Complaint was

not served, and the Amended Complaint will not be served on Defendants until the Court

so orders. A copy of the original Complaint and the Amended Complaint and a written

disclosure of substantially all material evidence and information Relator possesses have

been served on the Attorney General of the United States and the United States Attorney

for the Central District of Illinois pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(2) and Fed. R. Civ. P. 4.

17. Relator states that the allegations and transactions set forth herein have not

been publicly disclosed within the meaning of the False Claims Act. She has direct and

independent knowledge of the information on which the allegations in this Amended

Complaint are based. She voluntarily provided the information to the Government before

filing this suit.
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II. PARTIES.

18. Plaintiff Karen Chillcott ("Relator") is a citizen of the United States. Prior

to June, 2009 she resided in Baghdad, Iraq, 'at LOGCAP III Headquarters South Victory

Base. She now resides in Alabama. Relator began working for KBR's Government

Compliance Department in 1996. During the period 1996-2008, Relator held the position

of Senior Manager, Government Compliance, at KBR. She was deployed in theater in

various countries, and she remained abroad intermittently from 1998 until 2009. Her

responsibilities included the LOGCAP III contract effective April 2003. In this capacity,

Relator was the primary contact point for KBR when interfacing with Defense Contracting

Auditing Agency in the Middle East, Europe, Eastern Europe, Central Asia, and the

Mediterranean.

19. In May 2008, Relator became the Defendants' Chief of Staff, LOGCAP III,

and later became the Defendants' Executive Director for the contract. As the chief

executive officer of thc then $30 billion LOGCAP III contract, Relator had responsibility

for the oversight of management and staff functions for Central Asia and the Middle East.

Relator was the Executive Director of LOGCAP III until June 2009. In this capacity, she

served as the key advisor to the program on administration and operations to ensure

adherence to contract' requirements and compliance with KBR management systems,

policies, and procedures. She had managerial responsibility for all KBR personnel

working on the LOGCAP III in more than 70 sites in eight countries including Iraq,

Afghanistan, and Kuwait, among other countries.
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20. During the period June 2009-November 2009, Relator was Director,

Procurement Compliance, KBR Government and Infrastructure, in Houston, Texas. As the

Senior Procurement compliance executive, Relator was responsible for the procurement

department and procurement file compliance with Defendants' procurement policies and

procedures, as well as the review of flow down terms and conditions from prime contracts.

She interfaced with Defendants' Government Compliance Department representatives and

Defense Contract Audit Agency and Defense Contract Management Agency

representatives related to procurement issues/questions. She retired from KBR in

November 2009.

21. Relator is the "original source" under 31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(B) for the

information given to the United States regarding Defendants' illegal conduct in violation

of Federal laws. Except as alleged on information and belief, Relator has direct and

independent knowledge of the allegations set forth herein. Relator states that, to her

knowledge, the information concerning Defendants' misconduct has not been disclosed

publicly.

22. Defendant KBR, Inc. is a publicly traded Delaware corporation. It has a

principal place of business at 601 Jefferson Street, Suite 3400, Houston, Texas 77002.

Directly or through its subsidiary entities, KBR, Inc. is a prime contractor under both

LOGCAP III and IV providing logistical support to United States military and Coalition

forces in theater in Afghanistan, The Republic of Georgia, Kuwait, and Iraq, among other

countries. It is a former indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Halliburton Company.
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23. Defendant Kellogg Brown & Root L.L.C. is a wholly owned subsidiary of

Defendant KBR, Inc. It is the successor company to Kellogg Brown & Root, Inc. and The

M.W. Kellogg Company. It is a Delaware corporation registered as a foreign corporation

in Illinois. At all relevant times, Defendant Kellogg Brown & Root L.L.C. knew of, and

acted in concert with, the other Defendants to make false statements and submit the false

claims to the United States.

24. Kellogg Brown & Root Services, Inc. is a wholly owned subsidiary of

KBR, Inc. It is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business located in

Houston, Texas. It is a registered foreign corporation in Illinois. At all relevant times,

Defendant Kellogg Brown & Root Services, Inc. knew of, and acted in concert with, the

other Defendants to make false statements and submit the false claims to the United States.

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE.

25. This action arises under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., and

under the False Claims Act, as amended by FERA.

26. This Court possesses subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345 and 31 U.S.C. §§ 3730 and 3732(a). The Court may exercise

personal jurisdiction over Defendants pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) because at least one

of Defendants resides or transacts business in this District and the claims described herein

occurred in this District. The Complaint has been filed timely within the period prescribed

by 31 U.S.C. § 3731(b).

27. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) and 28

U.S.C. § 1391 (b) and (c) because at least one of Defendants resides or transacts business in

II
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this District, the LOGCAP III and IV contracts are administered in this District, and many

of the facts that form the basis for this Amended Complaint occurred in this District.

IV. LOGCAP III AND THE "TOUR OF DUTY" CLAUSE.

28. Logistics Civil Augmentation Program III, Contract No. DAAA09-02-D-

0007, is a prime contract administered by the United States Army. Under LOGCAP III,

the United States utilizes civilian contractors to provide logistical support to military forces

in wartime and other operations. Administration of LOGCAPIII is by the United States

Army Operations Support Command located within this District at the Rock Island

Arsenal, Rock Island, Illinois.

29. Defendants submitted an offer to the United States on September 26,2001,

in response to the LOGCAP III solicitation. The Operations Support Command awarded

the prime LOGCAP III contract on December 14,2001, to Brown & Root Services, which

was then a division of Kellogg Brown & Root, Inc. The prime contract was for a ten-year

term and served as an umbrella agreement. Mission specific requirements are organized

around task orders that are separately negotiated. Task orders serve a variety of different

purposes. Some are managed entirely within a country such as Iraq. Other task orders

apply to theater-level missions.

30. LOGCAP III is a cost-plus-award-fee contract, alternatively referred to as a

cost-plus contract. 48 C.F.R. § 16.305. This means that Defendants' allowable, incurred

costs under LOGCAP III are reimbursed based on provisional approval from the United

States following the proper submission of Standard Form 1034. In addition, Section A of

LOGCAP III states that Defendants are to receive up to a 3% profit for its allowable,

12
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incurred costs under the agreement. As a variant of a cost-reimbursement contract,

LOGCAP III requires Defendants to maintain accounting systems adequate for

determining costs applicable to the contract. 48 C.F.R. § 16.301-3. This is a critical

component of government oversight based on the estimated $450 million in monthly

expenditures under the contract.

31. LOGCAP III incorporates several attachments into the agreement. With

particular reference to Relator's claims, Attachment 002, Section H, Special Contract

Requirements, Paragraph H-29, is entitled "Tour of Duty/Hours of Work" ("Tour of Duty"

clause). It states in relevant part:

H-29 Tour of DutylHours of Work

• The contracting officer shall provide the contractor with the
anticipated duration ofdeployment.

• The contractor may rotate contractor employees into and out of the
theater provided that there is no degradation in mission results. For
employees who have deployed less than 179 days, the contractor may
rotate personnel at his own expense, for employees who have deployed
greater than 179 days may be rotated as an allowable cost under the
contract. The contractor will coordinate personnel changes with the
contracting officer.

32. The "Tour of Duty" clause states that the expenses of contractor personnel

who have deployed less than 179 days, that is, mobilization and demobilization costs, are

to be borne by the contractor. Conversely, properly documented mobilization and

demobilization costs can be submitted as an allowable cost under the contract for personnel

in theater for 179 days or greater.

13
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33. Prior to the submitting its bid for LOGCAP III, Defendants did not dispute

that the "Tour of Duty" clause rendered unallowable the mobilization and demobilization

costs for personnel in theater less than 179 days.

V. LOGCAP IV AND THE "TOUR OF DUTY" CLAUSE.

34. Logistics Civil Augmentation Program IV, Contract No. W52PlJ-07-D-

0009, replaced LOGCAP III. It is a prime contract administered by the United States

Army, Under LOGCAP IV, the United States utilizes civilian contractors to provide

combat support and combat service support augmentation to Combatant Commanders and

Army Service Component Commanders throughout the full range of military operations.

Administration of LOGCAP IV is by the United States Army Operations Support

Command located within this District at the Rock Island Arsenal, Rock Island, Illinois.

35, The Operations Support Command awarded one of the three prime

LOGCAP IV contracts on April 17, 2008 to Defendants. The prime contract is for a one

year term with options for extension and serves as an umbrella agreement. Mission

specific requirements are organized around task orders that are separately negotiated. Task

orders serve a variety of different purposes. Some are managed entirely within a country

such as Iraq. Other task orders apply to theater-level missions. The first task order under

LOGCAP IV awarded to KBR after the original Complaint in this case was filed.

36. LOGCAP IV is a cost-plus-award-fee contract, alternatively referred to as a

cost-plus contract. 48 C,F.R. § 16.305, This means that Defendants' allowable, incurred

costs under LOGCAP IV are reimbursed based on provisional approval from the United

States following the. proper submission of Standard Form 1034. In addition, paragraph H-
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35 of LOGCAP IV states that Defendants are to receive a base fee of3% for its allowable,

incurred costs under the agreement, plus various incentives. As a variant of a cost

reimbursement contract, LOGCAP IV requires Defendants to maintain accounting systems

adequate for determining costs applicable to the contract 48 C.F.R. § 16.301-3.

37. Section H ofthe LOGCAP IV contract, Paragraph H-26, is entitled "Tour of

Duty/Hours of Work" ("Tour of Duty" clause). The clause is identical to the "Tour of

Duty" clause in Paragraph H-29 of LOGCAP III. It requires the contractor to pay for

mobilization and demobilization costs for personnel in theater less than 179 days. Properly

documented mobilization and demobilization costs can be submitted as an allowable cost

under the contract for personnel in theater for at least 179 days.

38. Prior to the submitting its bid for LOGCAP IV, Defendants did not dispute

that the "Tour of Duty" clause rendered unallowable the mobilization and demobilization

costs for personnel in theater less than 179 days.

VI. FEDERAL ACQUISITION REGULATIONS.

39. As a cost-plus-award-fee contract, Defendants' costs under LOGCAP III

and IV must be allowable in order to legally obtain reimbursement from the United States.

48 C.F.R. § 52.216-26. Costs are allowable only when reasonable, allocable, and they

comply with the terms of the procurement contract and generally accepted accounting

principles and practices appropriate to the circumstances. 48 C.F.R. § 31.201-2(a).

Reasonable costs do not exceed that which would be incurred by a prudent person in the

conduct of competitive business. 48 C.F.R. § 31.201-3(a). A cost is allocable if it is
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assignable or chargeable to one or more cost objectives on the basis of relative benefits

received or other equitable relationship. 48 C.F.R. § 31.201-4(a).

40. When a procurement contract identifies expressly unallowable costs (such

as the "Tour of Duty" clauses), the contractor is required to identify and exclude these

costs from any billing, claim, or proposal applicable to the contract. 48 C.F.R. § 31.201-6.

An unallowable cost is "a particular item or type of cost which, under the express

provisions of an applicable law, regulation, or contract, is specifically named and stated to

be unallowable." 48 C.F.R. § 9904.405-30. If the unallowable cost is incurred, all directly

associated costs also are not allowable. 48 C.F.R. § 31.201-6. Directly associated costs

are those that are generated solely as a result of incurring another cost and would not have

been incurred had tlle oilier cost not been incurred. 48 C.F.R. § 31.201-6.

41. As a prime government contractor, Defendants are required by law and by

contract to timely disclose and return overpayments made by the United States. The

contract payment provisions of Federal Acquisition Regulations codify ilie duty to disclose

and repay overpayments:

Overpayments. If the Contractor becomes aware of a duplicate contract
financing or invoice payment or iliat the Government has otherwise
overpaid on a contract financing or invoice payment, the Contractor shall
immediately notify the Contracting Officer and request instructions for
disposition of the overpayment.

48 C.F.R. §§ 52.212-4(i)(5), 52.232-25(d), 52.232-26(c), and 52.232-27(1) (prior to

October 17, 2008). These regulations were in effect from ilie inception ofthe LOGCAP III

contract until October 16, 2008. It required Defendants to immediately notify the

contracting officer ofoverpayments.
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42. Effective October 17, 2008, the overpayment regulations were updated as

follows:

Overpayments. If the Contractor becomes aware of a duplicate contract
financing or invoice payment or that the Government has otherwise
overpaid on a contract financing or invoice payment, the Contractor
shall-

(i) Remit the overpayment amount to the payment office cited
in the contract along with a description of the overpayment
including the-

(A) Circumstances of the overpayment (e.g., duplicate
payment, erroneous payment, liquidation errors,
date(s) of overpayment);

(B) Affected contract number and delivery order
number, if applicable;

(C) Affected contract line item or subline item, if
applicable; and

(D) Contractor point of contact.

(ii) Provide a copy of the remittance and supporting
documentation to the Contracting Officer.

48 C.F.R. §§ 52.212-4(i)(5), 52.232-25(d), 52.232-26(c), and 52.2~2-27(1) (effective

October 17,2008).

43. The Department of Defense ("DoD") re-affirmed the long-standing

regulatory requirement to disclose and promptly repay overpayments. In a final rule issued

on November 12,2008, the DoD stated:

The Payment clauses at FAR 52.212-4(i)(5), 52.232-25(d), 52.232
26(c), and 52.232-27(1) require that, if the contractor becomes
aware that the Government has overpaid on a contract financing or
invoice payment, the contractor shall remit the overpayment
amount to the government. A contractor may be suspended and/or
debarred for knowing failure by a principal to timely disclose
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credible evidence of a significant overpayment, other than
overpayments resulting from contract financing payments as
defined in 32.001 (see 9.406-2(b)(l)(vi) and 9.407-2(a)(8)).

73 Fed. Reg. 67064, at 67090 (Nov. 12,2008) (quoting 48 C.F.R § 3.1003(a)(3)).

VII. THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT.

44. The False Claims Act, as in effect prior to June 7, 2008, provides III

pertinent part:

(a) Any person who-

(1) knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, to an
officer or employee of the United States Government
or a member of the Armed Forces of the United
States a false or fraudulent claim for payment or
approval;

(2) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used,
a false record or statement to get a false or fraudulent
claim paid or approved by the Government;

(3) conspires to defraud the Government by getting a
false or fraudulent claim allowed or paid;

* * *
(7) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used,

a false record or statement to conceal, avoid, or
decrease an obligation to payor transmit money or
property to the Government.

* * *
is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than
$5,000 and not more than $10,000, plus 3 times the amount of damages
which the Government sustains because of the act of that person ....

31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l), (2), (3) & (7).
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45. The FCA defines the terms "knowing" and "knowingly" to mean "that a

person, with respect to information (I) has actual knowledge of the information; (2) acts in

deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information; or (3) acts in reckless

disregard of the truth or falsity of the information, and no proof of specific intent to

defraud is required." 31 U.S.C. § 3729(b).

46. A contractor is liable under the FCA where it is under a duty to prevent a

fraud on the government but fails to fulfill the duty.

47. The Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009, Pub.L. 111-21,

amended the FCA to state in pertinent part:

(a) Liability for Certain Acts

(l) In General. - Subject to paragraph (2), any person who -

(A) knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or
fraudulent claim for payment or approval:

(B) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim;

* * *

(G) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement material to an obligation to payor
transmit money or property to the Government, or knowingly
conceals or knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases
an obligation to payor transmit money or property to the
Government,

is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than
$5,000 and not more than $10,000, as adjusted by the Federal Civil
Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990 plus 3 times the amount of
damages which the Government sustains because of the act of that person.
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VIII. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL COUNTS.

A. Discovery And Verification Of The Unallowable Costs.

48. In April 2003, Relator was employed as a Senior Manager, Government

Compliance. She had administrative responsibilities for the LOGCAP III contract.

49. In late 2003, Relator inquired whether Defendants were tracking the

mobilization and demobilization data of personnel for purposes of refunding overpayments

under LOGCAP III for personnel who departed in less than 179 days. She verified that the

Defendants were not doing so.

50. Relator brought the "Tour of Duty" clause to the attention of Defendants'

senior executives. In late 2003, Relator spoke with Mary Wade, KBR's Senior Contracts

Manager for LOGCAP III. Relator asked Ms. Wade about the "Tour of Duty" clause. Ms.

Wade confirmed that the clause prohibited bilJing the government for the mobilization and

demobilization costs for personnel deployed less than 179 days. Ms. Wade said she had

brought the clause to the attention of Craig Peterson, Vice President of Operations,

Maintenance and Logistics. Upon information and belief, Ms. Wade told Mr. Peterson that

the "Tour of Duty" clause meant that Defendants could not bill for the mobilization and

demobilization costs of personnel who leave theater in less than 179 days. Ms. Wade was

unaware of how or whether Defendants intended to comply.

51. In 2004, Relator spoke with Craig Peterson, then Vice President of

Operations, Maintenance and Logistics, about the overpayments. The conversation

occurred in a conference room in the International Zone in Baghdad. Relator raised

concerns with personnel leaving in less than 179 days. Mr. Peterson confirmed that he was
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aware of the "Tour of Duty" clause and Defendants' failure to disclose the matter to the

United States.

52. On July 12-13,2006, a question arose within KBR whether certain costs of

personnel demobilized from a task order where allowable. On July 13, 2006, Ms. Wade

circulated an internal email instructing "Don't forget that if the person has been on

LOGCAP less than 6mo KBR eats the entire mobe/demobe cost." The employees so

instructed by Ms. Wade included Brian Fee, KBR Compliance Supervisor; Todd W.

Bishop, Director, Government Compliance KBR Government & Infrastructure; and Mike

Mulholland, who later became Project Manager LOGCAP III HSO, Government and

Infrastructure. Ms. Wade's email also was sent to specific KBR employees in Defendants'

Government Compliance Department including Tess LeVan, David Lehmkuhl, John

Webb, Charlie Kerr, and Theodore Needham.

53. During a daily battle update briefing meeting in theater sometime during the

first three weeks of January 2009, KBR's Principal Program Manager of LOGCAP III,

Guy LaBoa, asked Larry Lust, Deputy Principal Program Manager in front of those in

attendance whether Defendants had figured out a way to credit back to the United States

the payments already made to Defendants when a KBR employee leaves the contract early.

Relator attended this meeting. Mr. Lust responded that he was unaware whether

Defendants had figured out a solution and characterized it as a "Houston" problem.

54. On January 20, 2009, the subject of the early demobilizations of personnel

in less than 179 days was addressed to Senior Leadership. A Project Management

Conference of senior executives occurred over a several day period at Joint Base Balad in
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Iraq. Attendees at the Conference included Project Managers and the Senior Leadership

Team as well as the senior functional area managers.! During the Project Management

Conference, Ted Herman, KBR's Theater Senior Manager, Human Resources, made a

presentation entitled "LOGCAP III Human Resources." The presentation included a

PowerPoint with slides tracking the number and/or percentage of Defendants' demobilized

employees with less than 180 days on the contract. Upon information and belief, senior

Leadership in attendance at the meeting received this information.

55. Other individuals were aware of Defendants' obligation to pay all the costs

for demobilized personnel iIi. theater for less than 179 days including Brigadier General

Jerry Laws (retired), former Chief of Staff of the LOGCAP III contract, and Hazel E.

Wood-MacArthur, former Theater Senior Manager, Human Resources.

56. In her positions as Senior Manager Government Compliance in Theater for

KBR since 1998 which included LOGCAP III in 2003 and later Relator's positions as

Chiefof Staff and Executive Director for the LOGCAP III contract, Relator has extensive

knowledge of Defendants' Accounting System, LOGCAP personnel assignments, and

mobilization data. Relator is aware that Defendants did not implement a system between

the Human Resources, Procurement (for Subcontractor personnel), and Accounting

Departments to account for personnel demobilized in less than· 179 days and the

replacements for those positions. Relator is also aware that, because of the lack of

The list of attendees for the Conference includes the second in command for KBR
Govcrnment & Infrastructure, Senior Vice President Government Compliance, William
"Bill" Walter. Senior Manager, KBR Audit Services, Jerald Etheridge, also is believed to
have attended along with Project Managers David Poe, Mitchell Bell, and David Cintron.
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accounting for those personnel and the demobilizations in less than 179 days and all

related resultant unallowable costs for the same, Defendants failed to issue refunds to the

United States for unallowable mobilization and demobilization costs.

57. In her positions as a senior manager for LOGCAP III and later Defendants'

Chief of Staff and Executive Director for the contract, Relator has extensive knowledge of

Defendants' accounting systems, LOGCAP III personnel assignments, and mobilization

data. Relator is aware that Defendants did not implement a system to account for

personnel demobilized in less than 179 days for the purpose of issuing refunds to the

United States for unallowable mobilizing and demobilizing costs.

B. Defendants' Internal Documents Validate Thousands Of Early
Demobilizations.

58. Relator obtained documents substantiating Defendants' fraud. Among the

internal documents is data that a minimum of 11,390 former direct employees of

Defendants were demobilized in less than 180 days as of December 31,2008. 11,266 of

the 11,390 were demobilized in less than 179 days. These former employees were

assigned to one of the 20 different LOGCAP III sites. The data in Table 1 is illustrative. It

does not include all early demobilized direct employees of Defendants throughout

LOGCAP III, nor does it include subcontractor personnel.

A Site 290 327 367

Afghanistan 330 387 385

B Site 141 195 205

BTC 0 0 1

317

352

198

2

23

269

309

179

o

274

286

196

o

1,844

2,049

1,114
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C Site 92 148 160 151 146 120 817

C5- Taji 17 24 32 29 40 32 174

DFI Site 194 274 265 259 246 220 1,458

Djibouti 14 36 32 26 23 24 155

TFI34HQ 5 8 19 24 14 16 86

G Site 50 52 78 59 63 69 371

H Site 66 76 110 106 104 122 584

Jordau 0 1 3 0 0 0 4

Kuwait 190 223 260 225 182 197 1,277

No Record 5 0 0 0 0 0 5

Fl LClIIHQ 6 5 5 8 16 17 57

T Site 76 139 150 157 151 148 821

Turkey 1 2 0 1 0 0 4

UAE 0 2 1 1 0 2 6

USMI 60 77 99 87 65 85 473

Uzbekistan 19 13 12 19 16 9 88

Grand Total 1,556 1,989 2,184 2,021 1,823 1,817 11,390

59. Exhibit 1 is a spreadsheet providing de-identified information for each of

the former LOGCAP III direct employees who demobilized in less than 179 days as

represented in Table 1. The information includes the employee's contract date

(corresponding to the mobilization date), job title, area assignment, country assignment,

project assignment, main site identification, work location, employment action (e.g.,

voluntary or involuntary separation), reason for action, demobilization date, and the

number of days on LOGCAP III. The examples are de-identified so that personal

information about the underlying employee is not public.

60. The data in Table 1 and Exhibit 1 does not capture all LOGCAP III

personnel that demobilized in less than 179 days. A KBR employee, Leodegario Tengco,

Theater Human Resources, LOGCAP 11I Data Support Team, informed Relator that
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Defendants started tracking this information only in late 2005. Upon information and

belief, Exhibit I does not include thousands of former employees for whom Defendants

wrongfully billed the United States for unallowable mobilization and demobilization

expenses from the contract inception through 2005 or from December 31, 2008 to current.

Nor does it include the employees of the subcontractors who were demobilized in less than

179 days, but nonetheless billed to the Government and not refunded.

C. Unallowable Costs Substantially Exceed $10,000 Per Person.

61. The unallowable mobilization and demobilization costs wrongfully billed

by Defendants under LOGCAP 1II well exceed $10,000 per person. For example,

Defendants' mobilization costs for Task Order 159 alone was $8,275 per person during the

period September 1, 2008 to August 2009. The mobilization cost elements are based on

advanced agreements between Defendants and various subcontractors. Among other

items, the costs include items such as (a) paying the airfare to fly to Houston, (b) 11 days

lodging in Houston during processing of the employee, (c) meals provided to the employee

in Houston during processing, (d) background checks, (e) medical processing, including

DNA testing, (f) tax briefing of the employee, (g) roundtrip flights from Houston to Dubai,

(h) charter flights from Dubai to Iraq, (i) travel service fees, and G) Visa and Passport

assistance.

62. The mobilization costs claimed by Defendants have decreased over the term

of the LOGCAP III contract to approximately $8,275. In earlier years of the LOGCAP III

contract, the mobilization costs were higher.
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63. On information and belief, the amount of mobilization and demobilization

costs per person under the LOGCAP IV contract are commensurate with LOGCAP III.

64. Defendants also unlawfully billed the United States for demobilization costs

of personnel who left the theater of operations in less than 179 days. These demobilization

costs include airfare from the employee's locationin theater to Dubai and return trip airfare

from Dubai to Houston or the employees point of origin, among other costs.

65. Documentation of the mobilization and demobilization costs is assembled

by Defendants in Houston. The information was submitted to the United States in a

Standard Form 1034 invoice. Each invoice contains a false certification signed by an

authorized employee of Defendants that states "I certify that all payments requested are for

appropriate purposes and in accordance with the agreements set forth in the contract."

D. Defendants' Imposed The "Tour of Duty" Clause On
Subcontractors.

66. Defendants' knowledge that the costs of personnel demobilized in less than

179 days were unallowable is documented in contracts executed with its subcontractors.

Defendants contracted with Integrated Technologies Group, Inc., Wackenhut LLC, and

Lear Siegler Services, Inc./EG&G Technical Services, Inc., among other companies, to

perform services as subcontractors. The contracts were negotiated and prepared by

Defendants and implemented in late 2003 and thereafter. The contracts flow down the

provisions and requirements of the prime LOGCAP III contract. As demonstrated for each

of these subcontractors in the following illustrative examples, the subcontracts expressly

state that the subcontractors must reimburse Defendants for (I) early demobilization costs,

and (2) costs to replace all demobilized personnel for all subcontractor personnel that do
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not complete 180 days of service or depart the assignment location less than 180 days after

deployment.

67. Defendants entered into a Master Agreement with EG&G Technical

Services, Inc. and Lear Siegler Services, Inc. on or about January 17, 2004 (Agreement

Number 304-304-SSUB-MA003). The support services covered by the Master Agreement

include aircraft and airfield equipment, air terminal cargo management, ground MRO, base

operations support, ordinance handling, and contingency planning support. William Jonas,

Vice President of Procurement, signed on behalf of Defendants. Thomas S. Walter, Vice

President of Contracts and Pricing, signed for EG&G and LSI. The Master Agreement

expressly flowed down the conditions and clauses of the LOGCAP III prime contract. A

Master Agreement Task Order with an effective date of March 16,2004, was executed by

Messrs. Walter and Jonas (Task Order No.2). The Master Agreement Task Order includes

attachment "Task Order Special Telms and Conditions" which applies the requirements of

the "Tour of Duty" clause to subcontractor personnel. In relevant part, the agreement

states:

These Special Conditions to Task Order address the deployment
of subcontractor personnel into a theater of operations in
support ofKBRSI and its prime contract requirements.

• • •
2.8.2. Minimum Deployment

Minimum deployment shall be for a period of no less than 365
consecutive days or 1 year. In the event subcontractor
employee, for reasons not resulting from the development of a
medical condition prevent subcontractor employee from
acceptable continued performance of work required and/or for
reasons related to severe family hardship, departs an area of
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operations in less than a 6 month period, the replacement of
subcontractor employee shall be at subcontractor's expense and
must be complete within 72 hours or as otherwise directed by
KBRSI.

* * *

3.3.2.6. In the event subcontractor employee departs
assignment location in a period of less than 6 months from
deployment "wheels up", subcontractor shall be responsible for
all employee return costs and all associated costs of employee
replacement to "wheels up".

68. On behalf of Defendants, Mr. Jonas entered into a Master Agreement with

subcontractor Integrated Technologies Group, Inc. A Master Agreement Task Order with

effective date of January 16, 2004, was executed (Master Agreement Number: 304-304-

SSUB-MA002). The Master Agreement Task Order includes the attachment "Task Order

Special Terms and Conditions" which applies the requirements of the "Tour of Duty"

clause to the subcontractor. In relevant part, the Agreement states:

These Special Conditions to Task Order address the deployment
of subcontractor personnel into a theater of operations in
support ofKBRSI and its prime contract requirements.

* * *
2.8.2. Minimum Deployment

Minimum deployment shall be for a period of no less than 365
consecutive days or I year. In the event subcontractor
employee, for reasons not resulting from the development of a
medical condition prevent subcontractor employee from
acceptable continued performance of work required and/or for
reasons related to severe family hardship, departs an area of
operations, the replacement of subcontractor employee shall be
at subcontractor's expense and must be complete within 72
hours or as otherwise directed by KBRSI.

* * *
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3.3.2.1. In the event subcontractor employee departs
assignment location in a period of less than 6 months from
deployment "wheels up", subcontractor shall be responsible for
all employee return costs and all associated costs of employee
replacement to "wheels up".

69. Defendants entered into a Master Agreement with subcontractor Wackenhut

LLC (Master Agreement Number: 304-304-SSUB-MA004) to provide fire fighting

services and personnel in theater. A Master Agreement Task Order with effective date of

March 16, 2004, was executed by Mr. Jonas and Larry K. Luper, Vice President of

Business management for Wackenhut. The Master Agreement Task Order includes the

attachment "Task Order Special Terms and Conditions" which applies the requirements of

the "Tour of Duty" clause to the subcontractor. In relevant part, the Agreement states:

These Special Conditions to Task Order address the deployment
of subcontractor personnel into a theater of operations in
support of KBRSI and its prime contract requirements.

* * *
2.8.2. Minimum Deployment

Minimum deployment shall be for a period of no less than 365
consecutive days or 1 year. In the event subcontractor
employee, for reasons not resulting from the development of a
medical condition prevent subcontractor employee from
acceptable continued performance of work required and/or for
reasons related to severe family hardship, departs an area of
operations in less than a 6 month period, the replacement of
subcontractor employee shall be at subcontractor's expense and
must be complete within 72 hours or as otherwise directed by
KBRSI.

* * *
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3.3.2.6. In the event subcontractor employee departs
assignment location in a period of less than 6 months from
deployment "wheels up", subcontractor shall be responsible for
all employee return costs and all associated costs of employee
replacement to "wheels up".

70. Subsequent task orders for subcontractors contain identical language with

added specificity as to the mobilization costs for replacing subcontractor personnel

departing the theater of operations in less than six months, as illustrated by the following:

These Special Conditions to Task Order address the deployment
of subcontractor personnel into a theater of operations in
support ofKBRSI and its prime contract requirements.

* * *

2.8.2. In the event subcontractor employee ... departs
an area of operations in less than a 6 month period, the
replacement of subcontractor employee shall be at
subcontractor's expense and must he complete within 72 hours
or as otherwise directed by KBRSI.

* * *

3.3.2.6. In the event subcontractor employee departs
assignment location in a period of less than 6 months from
deployment "wheels up", subcontractor shall be responsible for
all employee return costs and all associated costs of employee
replacement to "wheels up" including the following:

Medical
Immunization
Background
Passport
FedexlPostage
Travel to Houston
Air to Dubai/Kuwait
Lodging
Meals

Special Conditions to Task Order No.4, Attachment B-1, Subcontractor EG&G/LSI.
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71. Defendants identified III Master Agreement Task Orders with

subcontractors the amount of money to be paid to Defendants for early demobilized

subcontractor personnel: "A credit shall be issued by Subcontractor to KBRSI for

employees who fail to complete 180 days of service. The amount of the credit shall total

$4,460.00 [sic] per person. KBRSI reserves the right to make necessary adjustments to

said cost as a result of any additional charges. Said credit shall be presented in

Subcontractor's subsequent invoice." Special Conditions to Task Order No.4, Attachment

B-1, Subcontractor EG&G/LSI.

E. LOGCAP Subcontractors' Invoices Document Paymcnts Made
To Defendants For Early Demobilized Personnel.

72. Defendants enforced these contractual provisions against its subcontractors.

As demonstrated in invoices to Defendants by EG&G/LSI, the subcontractors were

required to pay millions of dollars to Defendants for the mobilization and demobilization

costs of personnel that failed to complete 180 days of service. The invoices cover the

period April 2005 through December 2008 and multiple task orders. Each invoice

typically includes an "early demobilization" cover letter; a consolidated invoice with a line

item identifying credits issued to Defendants for the early demobilization costs; a

spreadsheet or report entitled "STANDARD RESIGNATIONS/TERMINATIONS (LESS

THAN 180 DAYS)" with specific demographic and other information for early

demobilized personnel and the reason for the early demobilization; and a certification by

the subcontractor.

73. To illustrate the information in the subcontractors' invoices, on October 13,

2005, Marguerite C. Epps, Finance Manger/Contract Administrator of the LOGCAP
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Augmentation Program of EG&G/LSI sent a cover letter to Marie Martin of KBR. The

subject is entitled "Subcontract 304-304-SSUB-MA003; Task Order 3, Invoice I Early

Demobilization Credit." Ms. Epps states in the letter:

EG&G and LSI are pleased to submit to you our Voucher 1,
reflecting costs from April 30, 2005, through July 1,2005. As we
previously agreed we have included a credit for those employees
who demobilized before completing six months of employment.
This credit is $186,356.44 and is computed at $4,640 per employee
for 38 early demobilizations from April 30, 2005 through July 1,
2005 ($176,320.00) plus G&A on the EG&G/LSI portion of the
total.

The letter attaches a consolidated invoice with an entry entitled "EARLY DEMOBS

CREDITS/ADJUSTMENTS" in the amount of $183,356.44. A spreadsheet is attached

listing all of the subcontractors' personnel with "STANDARD

RESIGNATIONSITERMINATIONS (LESS THAN 180 DAYS)" during the invoice

period, including full name, position title, BIN, site location, date of hire, date of

demobilization, number of days in theater, voluntary or involuntary demobilization, reason

for demobilization (identified as "termination for cause," "other employment," "personal

reasons," 'job abandonment," and "medical." The invoice further contains a signed

certification by Greg D. Robinson, Treasurer of EG&G/LSI, dated October 13, 2005 stating

the invoiced costs are allowable under the Government cost principals.

74. Table 2 provides illustrative examples of the early demobilization letters

and invoices from Defendants' LOGCAP subcontractors EG&G/LSI based on the

applicable task order number, invoice number, author and recipient of the invoice, amount

of the early demobilization credit, and performance period covered by the invoice.
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(~J
3 1 10/13/2005 Marie Martin 186,356.44 . Marguerite C. Epps 4/30/05 - 7/1/05

3 2 10/25/2005 Marie Martin 48,049.54 Marguerite C. Epps 7/2/05 - 7/29/05

3 3 11/4/2005 Marie Martin 33,466.64 Marguerite C. Epps 7130/05 - 8/26/05

3 4 11/9/2005 Marie Martin 125,264.89 Marguerite C. Epps 8/27/05 - 9/23/05

3 5 11/14/2005 Marie Martin 19,363.85 Marguerite C. Epps 9/24/05 - 10/7/05

3 6 11/17/2005 Marie Martin 24,144.80 Marguerite C. Epps 10/8/05 - 10/21/05

3 7 11/23/2005 Marie Martin 19,243.82 Marguerite C. Epps 10/22/05 - 11/4/05

3 9 12/15/2005 Marie Martin 33,586.67 Marguerite C. Epps 11/19/05 - 12/2/05

3 12 3/30/2006 Bonita 86,297:13 Marguerite C. Epps 1/28/06 - 2/24/06
Beaudoin

3 13 4/14/2006 Connie Haydon 28,685.69 Marguerite C. Epps 2/25/06 - 3/10/06

3 14 4/25/2006 Connie Haydon 62,152.33 Marguerite C. Epps 3/11/06 - 3/24/06

3 15 5/3/2006 Connie Haydon 52,590.43 Marguerite C. Epps 3/25/06 - 4/7/06

3 17 5/24/2006 Marie Martin 47,809.49 Marguerite C. Epps 4/22/06 - 5/5/06

3 18 617/2006 Marie Martin 19,123.79 Marguerite C. Epps 5/6/06 - 5/19/06

3 19 6/15/2006 Marie Martin 28,685.69 Marguerite C. Epps 5/20/06 - 6/2/06

3 20 7/6/2006 Marie Martin 33,448.33 Marguerite C. Epps 6/3/06 - 6/16/06

3 21 7/17/2006 Marie Martin 23,891.67 Marguerite C. Epps 6/17/06 - 6/30/06

3 22 7/26/2006 Marie Martin 14,335.00 Marguerite C. Epps 7/1 /06 - 7/14/06

3 23 8/31/2006 Marie Martin 52,561.67 Marguerite C. Epps 7/15/06 -7/28/06

3 25 10/26/2006 Marie Martin 34,510.02 Tom HUlsey 8/12/06 - 8/25/06

4 1 1/16/2007 Betty Hayes 175,686.27 Charisse Reed 8/26/06 - 12/15/06

4 3 3/2/2007 Harold Davis 41,337.94 Charisse Reed 12/16/06 -12/30/06

4 5 4/17/2007 Lisa Dunning 55,508 Charisse Reed 1/13/07 - 1/26/07

4 6 4/30/2007 Lisa Dunning 77,739.94 Charisse Reed 1127/07 - 2/9/07

4 7 5/1 0/2007 Lisa Dunning 46,124.29 Charisse Reed 2/1 0/07 - 2/23/07

4 13 6/15/2007 Lisa Dunning 30,607.46 Charisse Reed 4/21107 - 5/4/07

4 14 6/26/2007 Lisa Dunning 35,708.71 Charisse Reed 5/5/07 - 5/18/07

4 15 7/5/2007 Lisa Dunning 15,303.73 Charisse Reed 5/19/07 - 6/1/07

4 17 7/26/2007 Lisa Dunning 20,404.97 Phillip G. Wagstaff 6/16/07 - 6/29/07

4 18 8/8/2007 Lisa Dunning 35,708.71 Charisse Reed 6/30/07 - 7/13/07

4 19 8/20/2007 Lisa Dunning 25,506.22 Sandy Moger 7/14/07 - 7/24/07

4 20 8/31/2007 Lisa Dunning 56,113.69 Sandy Moger 7/28/07 - 8/10/07

4 21 9/19/2007 Lisa Dunning 56,113.69 Sandy Moger 8/11/07 - 8/24/07

4 22 10/2/2007 Lisa Dunning 20,404.97 Sandy Moger 8/25/07 - 8/31/07
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6 5 11/6/2007 Lisa Dunning 30,446.52 Charisse Reed 10/6/07 - 10/19/07

6 6 11/20/2007 Lisa Dunning 51,012.44 Latoya Anderson- 10/20/07 - I 1/2/07
Reeves

6 7 12/7/2007 Lisa Dunning 25,506.22 Latoya Anderson- 11/3/07 -11/16/07
Reeves

6 8 12/20/2007 Lisa Dunning 40,809.94 Latoya Anderson- 11/17/07 - 11130/07
Reeves

6 9 1/4/2008 Lisa Dunning 25,506.22 Latoya Anderson- 12/1/07 - 12/14/07
Reeves

6 10 1/17/2008 Lisa Dunning 10,202.49 Latoya Anderson- 12/15/07 - 12/28/07
Reeves

6 II 1/31/2008 Lisa Dunning 30,607.46 Latoya Anderson- 12/29/07 - 1/11/08
Reeves

6 12 2/14/2008 Lisa Dunning 30,607.46 Latoya Anderson- 1/12/08 - 1/25/08
Reeves

6 13 2/29/2008 Lisa Dunning 30,607.46 Latoya Anderson- 1/26/08 - 2/8/08
Reeves

6 14 3/11/2008 Lisa Dunning 45,911.20 Latoya Anderson- 2/9/08 - 2/22/08
Reeves

6 15 3/17/2008 Lisa Dunning 20,404.97 Latoya Anderson- 2/23/08 - 2/29/08
Reeves

6 17 4/1/2008 Lisa Dunning 15,245.68 Hyacinth Clarke 3/1/08 - 3/7/08

6 23 6/4/2008 Lisa Dunning 40,655.16 Hyacinth Clarke 5/3/08 - 5/16/08

6 24 6/19/2008 Lisa Dunning 15,219.60 Latoya Anderson- 5/17/08 - 5/30/08
Reeves

6 27 7/25/2008 Lisa Dunning 15,219.60 Latoya Anderson- 6/28/08 -7/11/08
Reeves

6 28 8/8/2008 Lisa Dunning 40,585.61 Latoya Anderson- 7/l2/08 -7/25/08
Reeves

6 29 8/22/2008 Lisa Dunning 45,658.81 Latoya Anderson- 7/26/08 - 8/8/08
Reeves

6 30 9/5/2008 Lisa Dunning 55,805.21 Latoya Anderson- 8/9/08 - 8/22/08
Reeves

6 31 9/23/2008 Lisa Dunning 20,292.81 Latoya Anderson- 8/23/08 - 8/31/08
Reeves

7 9/23/2008 Lisa Dunning 20,292.81 Latoya Anderson- 9/1/08 - 9/5/08
Reeves

7 2 10/1/2008 Lisa Dunning 40,585.61 Latoya Anderson- 9/6/08 - 9/19/08
Reeves
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7 4 10/30/2008 Mayes White 15,219.60 Latoya Anderson- 10/4/08 -10/17/08
Reeves

7 5 11/13/2008 Mayes White 20,292.81 Latoya Anderson- 10/18/08 - 10/31/08
Reeves

7 6 11126/2008 Mayes White 10,146.40 Latoya Anderson- 1111/08- 11/14/08
Reeves

7 7 12/10/2008 Mayes White 5,056.29 Latoya Anderson- 11/15/08 - 11/28/08
Reeves

7 8 12/23/2008 Mayes White 5,056.29 Latoya Anderson- 11/29/08 - 12/12/08
Reeves

7 9 1/9/2009 Mayes White 5,056.29 Latoya Anderson- 12/13/08 - 12/26/08
Reeves

7 10 1/23/2009 Mayes White 10,112.59 Latoya Anderson- 12/27/08 - 12/29/08
Reeves

F. Defendants Continue To Bill For The Unallowable Costs Under
LOGCAPIV.

75. Defendants continue to bill the United States for unallowable mobilization

and demobilization costs under LOGCAP IV.

76. As Chief of Staff and later Executive Director of LOGCAP III, Relator

attended internal meetings in which Defendants' recommendations for proposal strategies

under LOGCAP IV were discussed in order to better position Defendants to win task

orders from the Army. During these meetings in 2009 at the LOGCAP III Headquarters

Building in Baghdad, Iraq (Victory Base), it was emphasized that Defendants were to be

consistent in handling the costs under LOGCAP III and IV. This approach responded to

concerns that proposing and treating cost items under LOGCAP IV differently than the

analogous cost items under LOGCAP III would have serious adverse financial
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consequences for Defendants. Based on these meetings, Relator learned that Defendants

would treat task order cost items arising under LOGCAP IV the same as in LOGCAP III.

This would include the mobilization and demobilization costs of personnel.

77. Defendants utilize the same accounting system and billing procedures for

LOGCAP III and IV personnel.

78. The executive management teams assigned to LOGCAP III and IV were

composed of numerous individuals who worked interchangeably under both contracts. For

example, Larry Lust was the program general manager for LOGCAP IV, and later served

as deputy program manager of LOGCAP III. Mike Mayo was the program manager for

LOGCAP III and later became the program general manager for LOGCAP IV.

79. In March or April 2009, Relator participated in a meeting with Messrs.

LaBoa and Lust and othcr senior staff in theater. The meeting was several weeks after the

contracting officer of LOGCAP III imposed a hiring freeze on mobilizing new personnel to

Iraq, one effect of which was to utilize current personnel assigned to LOGCAP III for

unfilled positions. Among the subjects discussed during the meeting was a review of

personnel assigned to LOGCAP III and preparations for future LOGCAP IV task orders.

During the meeting, Mr. LaBoa said that Defendants should consider the date of arrival in

theater when evaluating personnel reductions or re-assignments so that individuals who

had been in theater less than six months are retained. Mr. Lust affirmed this statement.

80. The Defense Contract Audit Agency ("DCAA") audited Defendants'

mobilization and demobilization data, procedures, and costs in relation to the contractual

requirements of the "Tour of Duty" clause in Clause H-29 of LOGCAP III. The DCAA
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audit was initiated after Relator filed her complaint in 2009. Relator participated in an

incurred cost audit meeting in mid-2009 at Defendants' office in Houston attended by staff

of Defendants' Government Compliance department and DCAA representatives. The

status of open audits was noted, including DCAA's audit of Defendants' demobilization

data under the "Tour of Duty" clause.

81. Subsequently Relator met with Mary Wade, Senior Contracts Manager for

LOGCAP III, in her office on September 24, 2009. Relator informed Ms. Wade that'

DCAA had commenced an audit requesting mobilization and demobilization data from

Defendants for personnel in theater less than 179 days. Ms. Wade stated that she was

unaware of DCAA's audit request.

82. During the meeting, Ms. Wade stated that previously she informed

Defendants that Clause H-29 is clear that Defendants are responsible for the costs of

personnel leaving theater in 179 days or less. Ms. Wade stated that she specified to

Defendants the relevant part of the contract - Clause H-29. Ms. Wade stated that

Defendants asked whether they had sought a clarification of the clause from the United

States prior to bidding on LOGCAP III in 2001 or renegotiate the terms. She stated that no

clarification or renegotiation was sought because the language was clear and it did not

allow Defendants to bill for the costs of personnel leaving theater in 179 days or less.

83. . The DCAA audit concluded that the costs of personnel leaving theater in

less than 179 days were unallowable under LOGCAP III. The costs billed to the United

States to replace such personnel also were determined to be unallowable. The DCAA audit

findings were based on a review and written interpretation of LOGCAP III, including the
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"Tour of Duty" clause, by the United States Army concluding that the costs are

unallowable.

84. The United States has demanded repayment for these unallowable costs.

Upon information and belief, Defendants have not issued a refund to the United States.

IX. FALSE AND FRAUDULENT CLAIMS AND STATEMENTS.

85. Defendants' costs must be allowable in order to legally obtain

reimbursement from the United States. 48 C.P.R. § 52.216-26. Costs are allowable only

when reasonable, allocable, permitted by the terms of the procurement contract, and

consistent with generally accepted accounting principles and practices appropriate to the

circumstances. 48 C.P.R. § 31.201-2(a). LOGCAP III and IV and their respective "Tour of

Duty" clauses state that mobilization and demobilization costs are expressly unallowable

unless the employees remain in theater for at least 179 days. Defendants were required to

identify and exclude these costs from any billing, claim, or proposal applicable to the

contract. 48 C.P.R. § 31.201-6. Pursuant to the scheme, pattern and practice described

herein, Defendants knowingly presented false and fraudulent claims to the United States

for unallowable expenses, and fraudulently obtained payments from the United States

based on the presentment of such false and fraudulent claims in violation of the peA.

86. Defendants' false claims and statements were material to the decision ofthe

United States to provisionally approve payment.

X. DAMAGES.

87. The United States has been damaged because of the acts and practices of

Defendants, as described above, in presenting, causing to be presented, and conspiring to
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present false claims, statements and records to induce the United States to pay for items

and services for which the Defendants were not entitled to payment.

88. Defendants profited unlawfully from the payment of the false and

fraudulent claims.

89. Defendants knew that the submissions for payment contained false records,

statements, or certifications.

90. Defendants knew, intended, and agreed that the claims would be submitted

to the United States Government and that such claims would be a material element in

defrauding the United States.

91. Unaware of Defendants' fraud and in reliance on the accuracy of the

Defendants' representations, the United States has paid said claims and has suffered

financial losses in excess of $200,000,000 in actual (single) damages because of these acts

by Defendants.

92. By virtue of Defendants' knowingly making, using, or causing to be made

or used, false records or statements to get false or fraudulent claims paid or approved, the

United States has suffered actual damages in excess of $200,000,000 in an amount to be

determined at the trial of this action and therefore is entitled to multiple damages under the

False Claims Act plus a civil penalty of$5,000 to $11,000 for each violation.

93. Defendants are liable for interest payments associated with the unallowable

payments under FAR pursuant to 48 C.F.R. § 52.212-4(i)(6).

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1) & 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A) Under LOGCAP 1II)
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94. Relator restates and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-93

as if each were stated herein in their entirety and said allegations are incorporated herein

by reference.

95. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.c. § 3729(a)(1), provides in relevant part that

any person who:

knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, to an officer or
employee of the United States Government or a member of the
Armed Forees of the United States a false or fraudulent claim for
payment or approval. .. is liable to the United States Government
for a civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and not more than
$10,000, plus 3 times the amount of damages which the
Government sustains because of the act ofthat person.

96. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I)(A), as amended by FERA,

provides in relevant part that any person who:

knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent
claim for payment or approval...is liable to the United States
Government for a civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and not
more than $10,000, plus 3 times the amount of damages which the
Government sustains because ofthe act ofthat person.

97. Defendants knowingly presented, or caused to be presented, to officers

employees or agents of the United States false and fraudulent claims in order to obtain

payment from and approval by the United States under LOGCAP III. The false and

fraudulent claims include:

a. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses for personnel that demobilized prior tb the
time the invoices were filed with the United States (for example,
the 1,600 former employees identified in Exhibit I who
demobilized within thirty days of hiring);

b. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization and demobilization expenses for personnel, including
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subcontractor employees, failing to remain in theater for at least
179 days;

c. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses of replacement personnel filling the position
vacancy of early demobilized personnel;

d. failing to disclose and immediately repay or refund the expressly
unallowable expenses and failing to refund to the United States the
early demobilization payments of subcontractors; and

e. falsely certifying that all payments requested are for appropriate
purposes and in accordance with LOGCAP III requirements.

98. Defendants knew that these claims for payment were false, fraudulent, or

fictitious, or were deliberately ignorant of the truth or falsity of the claims, or acted in

reckless disregard of whether the claims were true or false.

99. Defendants knew, intended, and agreed that these claims would be

submitted to the United States Government and that such claims would be a material

element in defrauding the United States.

100. Unaware of Defendants' fraud and in reliance on the accuracy and

truthfulness of Defendants' representations, the United States has paid said claims and has

suffered financial losses because of these acts by Defendants.

101. By virtue of the false or fraudulent claims made by Defendants and the false

records or statements made by the Defendants, the United States has suffered damages in

an amount to be determined at the trial of this action and therefore is entitled to multiple

damages under the False Claims Act plus a civil penalty of $5,000 to $11,000 for each

violation.
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I) & 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I)(A) Under LOGCAP IV)

102. Relator restates and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-101

as if each were stated herein in their entirety and said allegations are incorporated herein

by reference.

103. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l), provides in relevant part that

any person who:

knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, to an officer or
employee of the United States Government or a member of the
Armed Forces of the United States a false or fraudulent claim for
payment or approval is liable to the United States Government for
a civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and not more than $10,000,
plus 3 times the amount of damages which the Government
sustains because of the act ofthat person.

104. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I)(A), as amended by FERA,

provides in relevant part that any person who:

knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent
claim for payment or approval is liable to the United States
Government for a civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and not
more than $10,000, plus 3 times the amount of damages which the
Government sustains because of the act of that person.

lOS. Defendants knowingly presented, or caused to be presented, to officers

employees or agents of the United States false and fraudulent claims in order to obtain

payment from and approval by the United States under LOGCAP IV. The false and

fraudulent claims include:

a. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses for personnel that demobilized prior to the
time the invoices were filed with the United States;
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b. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization and demobilization expenses for personnel, including
subcontractor employees, failing to remain in theater for at least
179 days;

c. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses of replacement personnel filling the position
vacancy of early demobilized personnel;

d. failing to disclose and immediately repay or refund the expressly
unallowable expenses and failing to refund to the United States the
early demobilization payments of subcontractors; and

e. falsely certifying that all payments requested are for appropriate
purposes and in accordance with LOGCAP IV requirements.

106. Defendants knew that these claims for payment were false, fraudulent, or

fictitious, or were deliberately ignorant of the truth or falsity of the claims, or acted in

reckless disregard of whether the claims were true or false.

107. Defendants knew, intended, and agreed that these claims would be

submitted to the United States Government and that such claims would be a material

element in defrauding the United States.

108. Unaware of Defendants' fraud and in reliance on the accuracy and

truthfulness of Defendants' representations, the United States has paid said claims and has

suffered financial losses because of these acts by Defendants.

109. By virtue of the false or fraudulent claims made by Defendants and the false

records or statements made by the Defendants, the United States has suffered damages in

an amount to be determined at the trial of this action and therefore is entitled to multiple

damages under the False Claims Act plus a civil penalty of $5,000 to $11 ,000 for each

violation.
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2) & 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B) Under LOGCAP III)

110. Relator restates and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-109

as if each were stated herein in their entirety and said allegations are incorporated herein

by reference.

111. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2), provides in relevant part that

any person who:

knowingly makes, uses or causes to be made or used, a false record
or statement to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved by
the government is liable to the United States Government for a
civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and not more than $10,000,
plus three times the amount of damages which the Government
sustains because of the act of that person ....

112. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B), as amended by FERA,

provides in relevant part that any person who:

knowingly mal(es, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim is liable
to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than
$5,000 and not more than $10,000, plus 3 times the amount of
damages which the Government sustains because of the act of that
person.

113. Defendants knowingly made, used, or caused to be made or used, false

records or statements to get false or fraudulent claims paid or approved. Defendants knew

that the submissions for payment contained false records, statements, or certifications·

including:

a. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses for personnel that demobilized prior to the
time the invoices were filed with the United States;
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b. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization and demobilization expenses for personnel, including
subcontractor employees, failing to remain in theater for at least
179 days;

c. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses of replacement personnel filling the position
vacancy of early demobilized personnel;

d. failing to disclose and immediately repay or refund the expressly
unallowable expenses and failing to refund to the United States the
early demobilization payments of subcontractors; and

e. falsely certifying that all payments requested are for appropriate
purposes and in accordance with LOGCAP III requirements.

114. Defendants knew, intended, and agreed that the claims would be submitted

to the United States Government and that such claims would be a material element in

defrauding the United States.

115. Unaware of Defendants' fraud and in reliance on the accuracy of

Defendants' representations, the United States has paid said claims and has suffered

financial losses because of these acts by Defendants.

116. By virtue of Defendants' knowingly making, using, or causing to be made

or used, false records or statements to get false or fraudulent claims paid or approved, the

United States has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this action

and therefore is entitled to multiple damages under the False Claims Act plus a civil

penalty of$5,000 to $11,000 for each violation.
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2) & 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B) Under LOGCAP IV)

117. Relator restates and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-116

as if each were stated herein in their entirety and said allegations are incorporated herein

by reference.

118. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2), provides in relevant part that

any person who:

knowingly makes, uses or causes to be made or used, a false record
or statement to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved by
the government is liable to the United States Government for a
civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and not more than $10,000,
plus three times the amount of damages which the Government
sustains because of the act ofthat person ....

119. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B), as amended by FERA,

provides in relevant part that any person who:

knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim is liable
to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than
$5,000 and not more than $10,000, plus 3 times the amount of
damages which the Government sustains because of the act of that
person.

120. Defendants knowingly made, used, or caused to be made or used, false

records or statements to get false or fraudulent claims paid or approved. Defendants knew

that the submissions for payment contained false records, statements, or certifications

including:

a. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses for personnel that demobilized prior to the
time the invoices were filed with the United States;
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b. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization and demobilization expenses for personnel, including
subcontractor employees, failing to remain in theater for at least
179 days;

c. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses of replacement personnel filling the position
vacancy of early demobilized personnel;

d. failing to disclose and immediately repay or refund the expressly
unallowable expenses and failing to refund to the United States the
early demobilization payments of subcontractors; and

e. falsely certifying that all payments requested are for appropriate
purposes and in accordance with LOGCAP IV requirements.

121. Defendants knew, intended, and agreed that the claims would be submitted

to the United States Government and that such claims would be a material element in

defrauding the United States.

122. Unaware of Defendants' fraud and in reliance on the accuracy of

Defendants' representations, the United States has paid said claims and has suffered

financial losses because ofthese acts by Defendants.

123. By virtue of Defendants' knowingly making, using, or causing to be made

or used, false records or statements material to false or fraudulent claims, the United States

has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this action and therefore

is entitled to multiple damages under the False Claims Act plus a civil penalty of $5,000 to

$11,000 for each violation.
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3) & 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I)(C) Under LOGCAP III)

124. Relator restates and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-123

above as if each were stated herein in their entirety and said allegations are incorporated

herein by reference.

125. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3), provides in relevant part that

any person who:

conspires to defraud the Government by getting a false or
fraudulent claim allowed or paid is liable to the United States
Government for a civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and not
more than $10,000, plus three times the amount of damages which
the Government sustains because of the act of that person.

126. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I)(C), provides in relevant part

that any person who conspires to commit a violation of subparagraph (A), (B), (D), (E),

(F), or (G) is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than

$5,000 and not more than $10,000, plus three times the amount of damages which the

Government sustains because of the act of that person.

127. Defendants combined and conspired to get false or fraudulent claims paid or

allowed in violation of31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3). The false and fraudulent claims include:

a. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses for personnel that demobilized prior to the
time the invoices were filed with the United States;

b. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization and demobilization expenses for personnel, including
subcontractor employees, failing to remain in theater for at least
179 days;
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c. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses of replacement personnel filling the position
vacancy of early demobilized personnel;

d. failing to disclose and immediately repay or refund the expressly
unallowable expenses and failing to refund to the United States the
early demobilization payments of subcontractors; and

e. falsely certifying that all payments requested are for appropriate
purposes and in accordance with LOGCAP IV requirements.

128. Defendants knew, intended, and agreed that the claims would be submitted

to the United States Government and that such claims would be a material element in

defrauding the United States.

129. Unaware of Defendants' fraud and in reliance on the accuracy of

Defendants' representations, the United States has paid said claims and has suffered

financial losses because of these acts by Defendants.

130. By virtue of Defendants' conspiring to get false or fraudulent claims paid or

allowed, the United States has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at the trial

of this action and therefore is entitled to multiple damages under the False Claims Act plus

a civil penalty of $5,000 to $11,000 for each violation.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3) & 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I)(C) Under LOGCAP IV)

131. Relator restates and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-130

above as if each were stated herein in their entirety and said allegations are incorporated

herein by reference.
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132. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3), provides in relevant part that

any person who:

conspires to defraud the Government by getting a false or
fraudulent claim allowed or paid is liable to the United States
Government for a civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and not
more than $10,000, plus three times the amount of damages which
the Government sustains because of the act of that person.

133. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I)(C), provides in relevant part

that any person who conspires to commit a violation of subparagraph (A), (B), (D), (E),

(F), or (G) is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than

$5,000 and not more than $10,000, plus three times the amount of damages which the

Government sustains because ofthe act of that person.

134. Defendants combined and conspired to get false or fraudulent claims paid or

allowed in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3). The false and fraudulent claims include:

a. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses for personnel that demobilized prior to the
time the invoices were filed with the United States;

b. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization and demobilization expenses for personnel, including
subcontractor employees, failing to remain in theater for at least
179 days;

c. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses of replacement personnel filling the position
vacancy ofearly demobilized personnel;

d. failing to disclose and immediately repay or refund the expressly
unallowable expenses and failing to refund to the United States the
early demobilization payments of subcontractors; and

e. falsely certifying that all payments requested are for appropriate
purposes and in accordance with LOGCAP IV requirements.
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135. Defendants knew, intended, and agreed that the claims would be submitted

to the United States Government and that such claims would be a material element in

defrauding the United States.

136. Unaware of Defendants' fraud and in reliance on the accuracy of

Defendants' representations, the United States has paid said claims and has suffered

financial losses because of these acts by Defendants.

137. By virtue of Defendants' conspiring to get false or fraudulent claims paid or

allowed, the United States has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at the trial

of this action and therefore is entitled to multiple damages under the False Claims Act plus

a civil penalty of $5,000 to $11,000 for each violation.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(7) & 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I)(G) Under LOGCAP III)

138. Relator restates and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-137

above as if each were stated herein in their entirety and said allegations are incorporated

herein by reference.

139. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(7), provided in relevant part that.

any person who:

knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement to conceal, avoid, or decrease an obligation to
payor transmit money or property to the Government is liable to
the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than
$5,000 and not more than $10,000, plus three times the amount of
damages which the Government sustains because of the act of that
person.
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140. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I)(G), as amended by FERA,

provides in relevant part that any person who:

knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement material to an obligation to payor transmit
money or property to the Government, or knowingly conceals or
knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases an obligation to pay
or transmit money or property to the Government, is liable to the
United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than
$5,000 and not more than $ 10,000 plus 3 times the amount of
damages which the Government sustains because of the act of that
person.

141. Defendants knowingly made, used, or caused to be made or used, a false

record or statement to conceal, avoid, or decrease an obligation to pay money to the United

States and knowingly made, used, or caused to be made or used, a false record or statement

material to an obligation to payor transmit money to the Government or knowingly

concealed or knowingly and improperly avoided or decreased an obligation to payor

transmit money to the United States. The false records or statements include:

a. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses for personnel that demobilized prior to the
time the invoices were filed with the United States;

b. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization and demobilization expenses for personnel, including
subcontractor employees, failing to remain in theater for at least
179 days;

c. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses of replacement personnel filling the position
vacancy of early demobilized personnel;

d. failing to disclose and immediately repay or refund the expressly
unallowable expenses and failing to refund to the United States the
early demobilization payments of subcontractors; and
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e. falsely certifying that all payments requested are for appropriate
purposes and in accordance with LOGCAP III requirements.

142. Defendants knew, intended, and agreed that the claims would be submitted

to the United States Government and that such claims would be a material element in

defrauding the United States.

143. Unaware of Defendants' fraud and in reliance on the accuracy of

Defendants' representations, the United States has paid said claims and has suffered

financial losses because ofthese acts by Defendants.

144. By virtue of Defendants' conspiring to get false or fraudulent claims paid or

allowed, the United States has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at the trial

of this action and therefore is entitled to multiple damages under the False Claims Act plus

a civil penalty of$5,000 to $11,000 for each violation.

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(7) & 31 U.S.c. § 3729(a)(1)(G) Under LOGCAP IV)

145. Relator restates and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-144

above as if each were stated herein in their entirety and said allegations are incorporated

herein by reference.

146. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(7), provided in relevant part that

any person who:

knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement to conceal, avoid, or decrease an obligation to
payor transmit money or property to the Government is liable to
the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than
$5,000 and not more than $10,000, plus three times the amount of
damages which the Government sustains because of the act of that
person.
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147. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(G), as amended by FERA,

provides in relevant part that any person who:

knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement material to an obligation to payor transmit
money or property to the Government, or knowingly conceals or
knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases an obligation to pay
or transmit money or property to the Government, is liable to the
United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than
$5,000 and not more than $ 10,000 plus 3 times the amount of
damages which the Government sustains because of the act of that
person.

148. Defendants knowingly made, used, or caused to be made or used, a false

record or statement to conceal, avoid, or decrease an obligation to pay money to the United

States and knowingly made, used, or caused to be made or used, a false record or statement

material to an obligation to payor transmit money to the Government or knowingly

concealed or knowingly and improperly avoided or decreased an obligation to payor

transmit money to the United States. The false records or statements include:

a. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses for personnel that demobilized prior to the
time the invoices were filed with the United States;

b. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization and demobilization expenses for personnel, including
subcontractor employees, failing to remain in theater for at least
179 days;

c. filing false Standard Form 1034s for expressly unallowable
mobilization expenses of replacement personnel filling the position
vacancy of early demobilized persollilel;

d. failing to disclose and immediately repay or refund the expressly
unallowable expenses and failing to refund to the United States the
early demobilization payments of subcontractors; and
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e. falsely certifying that all payments requested are for appropriatc
purposes and in accordance with LOGCAP IV requirements.

149. Defendants knew, intended, and agreed that the claims would be submitted

to the United States Government and that such claims would be a material element in

defrauding the United States.

150. Unaware of Defendants' fraud and in reliance on the accuracy of

Defendants' representations, the United States has paid said claims and has suffered

financial losses because of these acts by Defendants.

151. By virtue of Defendants' conspiring to get false or fraudulent claims paid or

allowed, the United States has suffered damages in an amount to be determined at the trial

of this action and therefore is entitled to multiple damages under the False Claims Act plus

a civil penalty of$5,000 to $11,000 for each violation.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Relator/Plaintiff prays that this District Court enter judgment on

behalfof Relator and against Defendants for the following:

A. Full restitution to the United States for all monies wrongfully received by

Defendants under LOGCAP III and IV;

B. Damages in the amount of three (3) times the actual damages suffered by

the United States Government, including interest;

C. Civil penalties against Defendants, respectively, for each violation of 31

U.S.C. § 3729;

D. Relator be awarded the fair and reasonable sum to which she is entitled

under 31 U.S.C. § 3730(d);
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E. Relator be awarded all costs and expenses of this litigation, including

statutory attorneys' fees and costs of court;

F. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, as appropriate, at the highest rate

allowed by law;

G. All other relief on behalf of the Relator or the United States Government to

which they may be justly entitled, both in law and in equity, which the

District Court deems just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff demands trial by jury pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure and the Seventh Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

Respectfully submitted,

By:

STEIN, MITCHELL & MUSE, L.L.P.

[)~til:k;'09;
Robert F. Muse (MD Bar No. 11785)
David U. Fierst (MD Bar No. 02301)
Robert L. Bredhoff
1100 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.
Suite 1100
Washington, D.C. 20036
Telephone: (202) 737-7777
Fax: (202) 296-8312
Email: abeato@steinmitchell.com

Lead Coullsel
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October 24,2012

By:

By:

DANZIGER & DE LLANO, L.L.P.

'Ret t.7Jk./lN.i
Rod R. De Llano (TX Bar No. 00'86666)
Lyric Centre
4400 Louisiana, Suite 12 I2
Hou~on, Texas 77002
Telephone: (713) 222-9998
Fax: (713)222-8866
Email: rod@dandell.com

LANE & WATERMAN, L.L.P.

~{:,Jr. (=C---"B"'?t}:-::N-=-o-.34999)
Jason J. O'Rourke (IL Bar No. 99495)
220 North Main St., Suite 600
Davenport,lA 52801-1987
Telephone: (563) 324-3246
Fax: (563) 324-1616
Email: bwaterman@L-WLlaw.com
Email: jorourke@L-WLaw.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on October 24, 2012, a true copy of the foregoing document was sent
via U.S. Mail to:

Michael D. McCoy, Esq.
Assistant United States Attorney
1830 Second Avenue, Suite 320
Rock Island, IL 61201
Telephone: (309) 793-5884

Gordon A. Jones, Esq.
Civil Division
United States Department of Justice
P.O. Box 261
Ben Franklin Station
Washington, D.C. 20044
Telephone: (202) 307-0473

Robert V.P. Watennan, Jr.
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